THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
In The Court of General Sessions

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 21 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000517

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Courtney Ray Mitchell,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

March 16, 2017



Donald L. Smith (SC Bar#6699)

Attorney for Appellant

122 N. Main Street

Anderson, SC 29621

Telephone: (864) 642-9284

Facsimile: (864) 642-9285

attorneydonaldsmith@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **WHETHER THE STATE PROVED THE ELEMENTS OF INTIMIDATING A WITNESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT**
- II. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO DECLARE THAT APPELLANT'S ARREST FOR BREACH OF PEACE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL**
- III. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO HOLD THAT THE CHARGE FOR INTIMIDATION OF A WITNESS WAS "FRUIT OF THE POISONOUS TREE"**
- IV. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS**
- V. **WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The following is Appellant's Amended Initial Brief in support of the reversal of his criminal conviction for Intimidation of a Witness.

Appellant was initially arrested for Breach of Peace on June 21, 2013, hours after an incident that occurred when he was at lunch with four co-workers from United Parcel Service (UPS). The Breach of Peace that was alleged, occurred despite the fact that the reporters who took issue with Courtney's comments, *never* cautioned him that his conduct was breaching their peace. Furthermore, there were no witnesses, independent of those offered by UPS, that witnessed a breach of peace. He was put on trespass notice in conjunction with the Breach of Peace charge.

He had a couple of items delivered to UPS on July 25, 2013, one of which was a leaf blower he had gotten from a co-worker in an effort to have it repaired by one of his friends; and, the other was a slightly torn envelope containing a number of nondescript items. Appellant was arrested for Intimidating a Witness on July 29, 2013. This appeal stems from Appellant's

conviction for Intimidation of a Witness, and his receipt of the maximum sentence therefore, as a result of jury trial on February 12, 2015. Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration and Motion for New Trial were denied on February 24, 2015. Appellant timely served his Notice of Appeal on March 5, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 21, 2013, at around 12:30 p.m., Appellant, who was on short term disability at the time, met four of his co-workers from UPS for lunch. At the lunch, Appellant made a number of odd statements that were not the norm for him and were arguably the result of an episode caused by his mental illness. His co-workers recognized that Appellant was "not himself" during the incident. One comment that Appellant made during the lunch was that he wanted to see Ken Baca, a manager at UPS, "leave in a box." He immediately corrected and rephrased his statement, and said that he wanted to see Baca "carrying his box of stuff walking out beside me."

Hiss breach of peace charge states that Appellant threatened co-worker Ken Baca by saying that he wanted to see him being carried out in a box. It is understood that the coworkers at the lunch did not move, nor did they ask Appellant to change his behavior or otherwise suggested that he was being disruptive. No other witnesses stepped forward (nor were any sought) to offer any supporting statements to the contentions of Appellant's coworkers at UPS. The investigation began and ended at the UPS location on Halston Road. UPS called the police. The police came to UPS and took down the facts. At the direction of UPS, the police constructed a warrant for Breach of Peace. Appellant was arrested based solely on the word of UPS (his co-workers).

On July 25, 2013, Appellant, who had been put on a no trespass notice, had to return a co-worker's leaf blower that he had in his possession. He had recognized that the instrument

was not running smoothly; and, he had taken the leaf blower to a friend to have it repaired. He also dropped off a partially torn envelope containing three cell phones, and a number of other nondescript items. The envelope was to be given to Velma Jones, though there was nothing in the envelope that was her property. Moreover, there wasn't anything *within* the envelope directed to her, or with her name on it. The envelope, and its contents, formed the basis of the charge of Intimidation of Witness. The officer who brought the intimidation of a witness charge also worked for, and was paid by, UPS.

Jones, the purported victim of Intimidation of a Witness, had an obtuse explanation for every item in the package. Whereas, Darryl Bailey took the leaf blower that was returned to him and simply placed it in his car (R. 39), Jones believed the leaf blower was a bomb capable of being detonated with a cell phone. (R. 46). Despite the fact that Appellant did not know where her mother lived (R. 49), Jones believed that Appellant was sending her the message because he went to a convenience store that was located in the same county as her mother's house. At trial, she told the jury that the receipt was a threat because it showed a purchase of her favorite beer. (R. 41). She said that a business card from a nursery in Anderson, South Carolina, was a threat against her well-being, because the nursery is near a house in which she had lived-over ten years ago. (R.43). The fanciful explanations of the subject events concocted by Jones and the other purported "victims" has exposed Appellant to a number of disastrous chain of events, as outlined below.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THE ELEMENTS OF INTIMIDATION OF A WITNESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

The trial court erred when it held that the State proved the elements of intimidation of a witness beyond a reasonable doubt. In South Carolina, intimidation of a witness is a statutory

offense that consists of (1) an unlawful threat of force to (a) intimidate or impede a witness in the discharge of his duty, or to (b) destroy, impede, or attempt to obstruct or impede the administration of justice in any court. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-340(A); State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 613 S.E.2d 381 (2005). The term “threat” is defined as “a communicated intent to inflict harm or loss on another.” Black’s Law Dictionary 1519 (8th ed. 2004). Further, “intimidation” has been defined as “caused by an act knowingly and intentionally done or statement knowing and intentionally made by the defendant, which was done or made in such a manner or under such circumstances that would produce such a reaction or such fear of bodily harm in a reasonable person.” U.S. v. Crosby, 416 Fed. Appx. 776 (10th Cir. 2011).

Intimidation in the constitutional sense is a type of true threat, where a speaker directs a threat to a person with the intent of placing the victim in fear of bodily harm or death; true threats encompass those statements where the speaker means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals. See Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 360 (2003). To support a conviction under § 16-9-340, there must be evidence that a defendant’s actions were an attempt to prevent the purported victim from continuing her activity. See Tucker v. Cherokee Cty. Veterans Affairs Office, No. 7:09-cv-193-HMH, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 66749, at *6 (D.S.C. 2009).

In the case at bar, Appellant did not use any threat of force, nor did he intimidate Jones or attempt to impede her in the discharge of her duties as a witness. At the time the package was sent, Appellant was unaware that Jones would be called as a witness to the breach of peace charge. Further, the State failed to establish that Appellant made any threat to Jones. There was no note or letter directed to Jones containing any threatening statement. The envelope which Jones received contained trash.

There was a 2003 handgun license that had been expired for some time. Appellant had never told *anyone* the purpose of the envelope. The individual who delivered the leaf blower and envelope was not called as a witness and, therefore, did not offer anything regarding what he understood was to be delivered. The owner of the leaf blower put the leaf blower in his car without a second thought. He testified that he is a reasonable person. (R. 50). On the same token, Ms. Jones' belief that a receipt for beer from a convenience store in the county where her mother resided (even though it was undisputed that Appellant did not know where she lived) and a nursery card from a nursery that she lived near over ten years ago, were not reasonable.

The State offered no evidence that Appellant threatened to physically injure the person or property of anyone, let alone Jones. No reasonable person could interpret receipts and a leaf blower as threatening or intimidating. Jones, the alleged victim, believed that the leaf blower was a bomb, and that three cell phones found in the envelope were detonators. Darryl Bailey, Jones and Appellant's coworker and the owner of the leaf blower, did not believe the leaf blower was a bomb; he nonchalantly placed it in his vehicle. Jones had a theatrical explanation for each item in the package, and even stated that she felt the leaf blower was a bomb because of something she had seen in the news.

In short, Appellant did not threaten to harm the person or property of any person, including Jones, nor did he attempt to impede the discharge of any witness's duties. Appellant did not communicate an intent to "inflict harm or loss" upon Jones. Jones and Darryl Bailey had very different reactions to the leaf blower. Bailey placed the leaf blower in his vehicle (R. 40); Jones believed that the leaf blower was a bomb capable of being detonated remotely using a cell phone. She based this belief on things she had seen in the news, not due to anything Appellant had said or done. Basing one's purported fear of bodily harm on what is seen on television, as

opposed to observations of the alleged intimidator, does not pass muster to get a conviction under § 16-9-340. There was never any evidence of the activity that Appellant was attempting to prevent her from *continuing*, presented. For these reasons, the elements of the crime are not met; and, the conviction should be reversed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO DECLARE THAT APPELLANT'S ARREST FOR BREACH OF PEACE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Breach of peace is a violation of public order, a disturbance of tranquility, by any act or conduct inciting to violence, which includes any violation of any law enacted to preserve peace and good order. State v. Poinsett, 250 S.C. 293, 297, 157 S.E.2d 570, 571 (1967). Before one may be punished for spoken words, there must be evidence that the words tended to incite a person to respond in a violent manner. Downs v. State of Maryland, 366 A.2d 41, 46 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1976). The government is not permitted to assume that every expression of a provocative idea will incite a riot, but must determine whether the expression is directed to inciting or producing imminent lawless action and is likely to incite or produce such action. Tex. v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 409 (1989). Words may convey anger and frustration without rising to a level such as to provoke violence. Lewis v. City of New Orleans, 415 U.S. 130, 135 (1974) (Powell, J., concurring). It is not enough that the words merely arouse anger or resentment. Skelton v. City of Birmingham, 342 So.2d 933, 937 (Ala. Crim. App. 1976).

The basis of the charge against Appellant for intimidation of a witness stemmed from a prior breach of peace charge against him. On June 26, 2013, Appellant was charged with breach of peace for making allegedly threatening statements against a member of management at UPS. Appellant was at a lunch with four co-workers outside of UPS property. During the lunch, he expressed his displeasure with a member of management named Ken Baca. Appellant said that

he “would like to see him go out in a box.” He immediately corrected himself and said that he would like to see his things go out in a box, with Baca walking next to it. Appellant and the co-workers finished their lunch without any evidence of concern about Appellant’s behavior. Upon returning to work, the co-workers went to human resources at UPS and told them about what Appellant had said. It was reported to police that Appellant threatened an individual who was not present. It was reported that Appellant threatened to kill someone for an offhand remark that was a mistake, with a subsequent contemporaneous correction.

To summarize, there is no basis in fact to establish that Appellant’s conversation with his co-workers was a breach of peace. No statement by Appellant was intended to incite violence by any co-worker or any person at the restaurant. He simply made a statement that he wanted to see a manager take his belongings out in a box. Not one of the four co-workers ever expressed any discomfort regarding Appellant’s conduct to him. They did not move from the table. No independent third party was a witness to anything breaching anyone’s peace, or at least the State never provided such an individual. Most importantly, Appellant was not arrested at the scene of the alleged breach of peace, but at a later time and at a different location.

Therefore, this Court should declare that Appellant’s arrest for breach of peace was unlawful and in violation of his constitutional rights.

III. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO HOLD THAT THE CHARGE FOR INTIMIDATION OF A WITNESS WAS “FRUIT OF THE POISONOUS TREE.”

The “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine provides that evidence must be excluded if it would not have come to light but for the illegal actions of the police, and the evidence has been obtained by the exploitation of that illegality. State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 323, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (S.C. 1996). The doctrine applies to both primary evidence obtained as a direct result

of an illegality, and to evidence discovered and found to be derivative of an illegality. See Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 804 (1984). It extends as well to the indirect as the direct products of unconstitutional conduct. *Id.* Appellant contends that the intimidation of a witness charge is but the “fruit of the poisonous tree” that is the breach of peace charge. As detailed above, Appellant’s arrest for breach of peace was unconstitutional. Appellant contends that this case is distinguishable from cases such as State v. Nelson.

In Nelson, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that the defendant’s charges were not “fruits of the poisonous tree,” but resulted from new and distinct criminal acts. State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 195, 519 S.E.2d 786, 790 (S.C. 1999). In that case, the court assumed, *arguendo*, that the police’s initial attempt to stop the defendant driver was unlawful. *Id.* At 194. After the police initially attempted to stop him, the defendant proceeded to run a stop sign and speed through a residential neighborhood. *Id.* At 189. The court reasoned, essentially, that running a stop sign and speeding were crimes committed independently of the attempted initial stop, and thus “purged the taint” of the attempted illegal stop. *Id.* At 195. Therefore, because running a stop sign and speeding “purged the taint” of the attempted illegal stop, the court held that those charges were not “fruit of the poisonous tree,” but were new and distinct crimes. *Id.*

This Court should distinguish the holding in Nelson and hold that Appellant’s charge of intimidation of a witness was “fruit of the poisonous tree.” Like in Nelson, where the police’s initial attempt to stop the defendant was illegal, Appellant’s initial charge of breach of peace was illegal, as detailed above. However, unlike Nelson, where running a stop sign and speeding were crimes independent of the attempted initial stop, Appellant’s charge for intimidation of a witness is not independent of the breach of peace charge. Whereas running a stop sign and speeding are crimes regardless of the circumstances, there can be no charge for intimidation of a witness

charge without a prior charge. Without the illegal breach of peace charge, there would be no “witness” to “intimidate.” Thus, without the illegal breach of peace charge, forwarding an envelope containing things traditionally found on a vehicle floorboard, and a borrowed leaf blower, would not constitute “intimidating a witness,” as the individual receiving the package would not have been a “witness” to a crime.

This Court should distinguish the reasoning in Nelson, which essentially held that the crimes committed by the defendant subsequent to the attempted illegal stop were independent of said stop, and thus “purged the taint” of the stop, and hold that Appellant’s intimidation of a witness charge was by definition dependent upon the illegal breach of peace charge, and thus could not have “purged the taint” of the charge. Therefore, because Appellant’s intimidation of a witness charge did not “purge the taint” of the illegal breach of peace charge, this Court should hold that the intimidation of a witness charge was “fruit of the poisonous tree,” and reverse Appellant’s conviction thereof accordingly.

In conclusion, this Court should hold that Appellant’s charge of intimidation of a witness was the “fruit of the poisonous tree.” The initial charge for breach of peace of was illegal. The charge of intimidation of witness, by definition, is dependent upon the illegal breach of peace charge; without the illegal breach of peace charge, there would be no “witness” to “intimidate.” The intimidation of witness charge was not independent of the illegal breach of peace charge, and thus did not “purge the taint” of the illegal charge. Therefore, the intimidation of a witness charge was the “fruit of the poisonous tree,” and Appellant’s conviction thereof should be reversed.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred by denying him his right to due process, by failing to compel the discovery of Velma Jones' personnel file, which had previously been subpoenaed, on February 9, 2015. (R. 3-16). In addition, the Court refused to dismiss the case against Appellant due to the failure to adhere to Brady and its progeny. The motion was argued immediately prior to trial on Thursday, February 12, 2015. (R. 17-28).

It should be noted that if the State should object to either of these issues as having been waived by not addressing them in trial, Appellant puts forth the Futility Doctrine as justification. In particular, the Court was of the belief that discovery issues were not relevant if the issues were not going in front of the jury. The Futility Doctrine was applied in Higginbottom wherein, "the tone and tenor of the trial judge's remarks concerning her gender and conduct were such that any objection would have been futile." State v. Higginbottom, 344 S.C. 11, 542 S.E.2d 718 (2001). In the case at hand, the Court's dismissive remarks concerning Appellant's objections to the manner in which the State provided discovery in light of Brady, were such that any further objection would have been futile.

Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either through examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced. Rule 608(c), SCRE. Anything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered in determining the credit to be accorded to his or her testimony. State v. Baker, 390 S.C. 56, 66, 700 S.E.2d 440, 444 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010).

The trial court granted UPS's Motion to Quash discovery of the personnel file of Velma Jones, sought by Appellant. He had originally sought the personnel files of the co-workers that were present at the lunch, based on the fact that the Breach of Peace was not devised until the co-

workers had returned to UPS and counseled with their superiors. Based on the fact that the State only intended to call Ms. Jones, the alleged victim in this intimidation charge, Appellant moved only to acquire her personnel file. Appellant believes that there is evidence that would show that Jones was being passed over for promotion at UPS, and initiated the Intimidation of a Witness to cause people to feel sorry for her and, perhaps give further thought to promoting her. Jones became a victim in order for UPS to overlook whatever it was that was preventing her advancement.

As discussed above, Jones likened the return of the leaf blower to a terroristic act, with an allegation that the leaf blower contained a bomb (despite the fact that she never saw it). She fed her co-workers' fear of potential terroristic acts, with baseless claims. Her vivid imagination provided an explanation for every useless piece of paper found in the envelope, ultimately relating them to herself. She created a furor by announcing that a leaf blower, that had been safely placed in a vehicle by its owner, was a bomb. She then stated that Appellant purposefully put three cell phones in the envelope because they were detonators. None of the outrageous claims that she made proved to be true. It can logically be deduced that the claims were not made by a reasonable person because prior to her announcement of terrorist activities, everyone was moving forward without hesitation.

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