ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

APR 05 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000517

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

COURTNEY RAY MITCHELL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant’s argument that the State failed to prove the elements of intimidation of a witness beyond a reasonable doubt is not a proper issue for appellate review and cannot be a trial court error because the trial court did not make such a holding during trial. However, to the extent the Court may construe Appellant’s argument as one regarding the denial of his directed verdict motion, the trial court correctly denied that motion based on the evidence presented.

Appellant argues “[t]he trial court erred when it held that the State proved the elements of intimidation of a witness beyond a reasonable doubt.” (App.Br.4.) However, the trial court made no such “holding.” Rather, the trial court thoroughly charged the jury on the State’s burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, and the elements of the offense (R. 105–117), and *the jury* found the State had proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt when it found Appellant guilty. (R. 118, lines 2–7.) To the extent Appellant’s argument could be generously construed as one based on the denial of Appellant’s directed verdict motion, the trial court properly denied that motion based on the existence of the evidence presented. Consequently, Appellant’s stated issue is not proper for appellate review, and in any event the trial court correctly denied his directed verdict motion.

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight. State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 469, 783 S.E.2d 802, 805 (2016). When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, an appellate court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. Id. at 470, 783 S.E.2d at 806. The trial court should grant a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. Id. at 469, 783 S.E.2d at 805. A defendant is

entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. Id.
(citations omitted).

Section 16-9-340 of the South Carolina Code provides:

(A) It is unlawful for a person by threat or force to:

(1) intimidate or impede a judge, magistrate, juror, witness, or potential juror or witness, arbiter, commissioner, or member of any commission of this State or any other official of any court, in the discharge of his duty as such; or

(2) destroy, impede, or attempt to obstruct or impede the administration of justice in any court.

(B) A person who violates the provisions of subsection (A) is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be fined not more than ten thousand dollars or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-340 (2015).

Appellant argues Appellant did not use any threat or force. He argues the State failed to establish Appellant made any threat to Jones and specifically points out “[t]here was no note or letter directed to Jones containing any threatening statement.” (App.Br.5.) However, the State elicited testimony from both Jones and Detective Wood that the combination of the previous threat regarding a co-worker and the contents of the envelope, which included Appellant’s CWP and personal information about Jones and her family, were enough to cause Jones to feel threatened. Jones testified that when she saw the items, and based on things Appellant knew about her from working closely together (such as her favorite beer which was listed on the receipt), she felt he was sending her a message that “he has a gun, and he knows where I live, he knows where my family lives.” (R. 68, line 22–R. 69, line 11.) She stated, “I was very upset that he took this method of trying to let me know that he knew these things and it all was in relation to the events that happened in June. He scared me. He scared my family.” (R. 69, lines

17–21.) When asked if she was afraid to testify against Appellant after receiving the items, she said she was. (R. 69, lines 22–24.) When Wood was asked how Appellant threatened Jones, he testified that based on everything he knew about what happened the day of the lunch, combined with the package and the leaf blower, he sensed fear in Jones and found her fear to be absolutely reasonable. (R. 92A, lines 1–22.) When asked what force Appellant used to try to intimidate Jones, he testified, “Psychological force.” (R. 94, lines 1–2.)

One tactic Appellant takes in his brief is to repeatedly claim that Jones is not a reasonable person and to offensively claim she gave theatrical explanations for the items in the envelope. However, Appellant’s sweeping generalization that “no reasonable person could interpret receipts and a leaf blower as threatening or intimidating” (App.Br.5.) ignores the most troubling items and Jones’s direct testimony that she interpreted the sending of the items as a message that “he has a gun, and he knows where I live, he knows where my family lives.” (R. 68, line 22–R. 69, line 11.) Furthermore, even if Appellant believes a “reasonable person” would not have interpreted the items the way Jones did, that would be a decision for the jury, not Appellant or the trial judge. In any event, it is not a standard appearing anywhere in the language of the statute, nor for reviewing a directed verdict motion. The trial court could only base its directed verdict ruling on the existence of evidence from which a reasonable juror could find Appellant guilty, not on whether the victim’s reaction was reasonable. See Pearson (quoting State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d 352 (2016) (“[T]he court must determine whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.”)). Indeed, only the jury was tasked with determining whether Jones was reacting in a reasonable manner when it determined the State met its burden in proving the elements of the crime.

Because the State presented evidence Jones was intimidated by Appellant's implied threat to her and her family, and additionally feared testifying against Appellant after receiving the package, sufficient evidence did exist reasonably tending to prove the guilt of Appellant so that the case should go to the jury. The trial court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion, and this Court should affirm.

II.

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred by failing to declare that his arrest for breach of peace was unconstitutional is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by failing to declare that his arrest for breach of peace was unconstitutional. However, this issue was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”); see also State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 432, 735 S.E.2d 471, 477 (2012) (“Constitutional questions must be preserved like any other issue on appeal.”). Therefore, it is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant argues, for the first time in this case, that “there is no basis in fact to establish that [Appellant]’s conversation with his co-workers was a breach of peace.” (App.Br.7.) He claims, “He simply made a statement that he wanted to see a manager take his belongings out in a box.” (App.Br.7.) This statement is disingenuous, however, because Jones’s testimony was that Appellant *first* said his fixation was for the director of inside sales to “*leave that place in a box*” and only then did he correct himself and say he meant “*with a box*” with him beside the director. Appellant admits he made the original statement but asks this Court to consider only the portion made after he “corrected” himself. (App.Br.7.) Appellant also claims none of the other co-workers expressed any discomfort regarding his statements at the lunch and that he did not say anything about or to the co-workers who were there. Finally, he claims he was not arrested at the scene of the incident.

None of the above claims, or the argument as a whole, in any way demonstrate an error by the trial court regarding a failure to declare the breach of peace arrest unconstitutional,

particularly where that arrest did not lead to the conviction that is the subject of this appeal.

Appellant never asked the trial court to make a determination that his underlying conviction was unconstitutional, so he cannot argue now that the trial court erred in failing to dismiss his current charge on that basis.

In any event, Appellant has failed to articulate any valid grounds to support the notion that his arrest for breach of the peace was in fact unconstitutional. His argument amounts to a challenge to the factual basis for the arrest, not a claim that any particular constitutional provision was violated. As such, it is without merit and must be denied and dismissed.

III.

Appellant’s argument that the trial court erred by failing to hold that the intimidation of a witness charge was the “fruit of the poisonous tree” is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised nor ruled upon by the trial court.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by failing to hold that the intimidation of a witness charge was the “fruit of the poisonous tree.” This issue was not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court and, thus, it is not preserved for appellate review. See Dunbar, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693 (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”). Furthermore, the State submits Appellant has misconstrued the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine.

“The fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine provides that evidence must be excluded if it would not have come to light but for the illegal actions of the police, and the evidence has been obtained by the exploitation of that illegality.” State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 323, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996) (citing Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)) (internal quotations omitted). “However, the challenged evidence is admissible if it was obtained from a lawful source independent of the illegal conduct.” Id. (internal citations omitted).

Here, Appellant seems to equate the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine, concerning the suppression of evidence, with an argument about the propriety of criminal charges. He argues the underlying breach of peace charge is unconstitutional and, therefore, the resulting intimidation of a witness charge cannot stand because “[w]ithout the illegal breach of peace charge, there would be no ‘witness’ to ‘intimidate.’” (App.Br.9.) The rationale behind the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine and the judicially created exclusionary rule is to penalize police who use illegal actions by suppressing evidence discovered as a result of those illegal actions. See State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 653, 763 S.E.2d 341, 348 (2014) (“The exclusionary rule is a

judicially created remedy for a Fourth Amendment violation [and its] primary rationale is to deter police misconduct. Where there is no misconduct, and thus no deterrent purpose to be served, suppression of the evidence is an unduly harsh sanction.”). In this case, not only were there no illegal actions by police, but there is no articulated evidence Appellant was trying to suppress. Thus, in addition to being unpreserved for appellate review, this doctrine is inapplicable to the case at hand.

Appellant argues this Court should distinguish this case from the holding in State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 519 S.E.2d 786 (1999), where the Supreme Court determined Nelson’s charges were not “fruits of the poisonous tree” but rather new and distinct criminal acts. In Nelson, a police officer was driving behind the defendant and flashed his high beam lights to get the defendant’s attention. The defendant drove through a stop sign and the officer conducted a traffic stop. After stopping the vehicle, the officer smelled alcohol, but the defendant refused to participate in field sobriety tests. On appeal, the Supreme Court held that even if the initial attempt to stop the defendant would have violated the Fourth Amendment, the officer was justified in making the stop after the defendant committed the subsequent traffic infractions, rationalizing that a strong policy reason exists for holding that “a new and distinct crime, even if triggered by an illegal stop, is a sufficient intervening event to provide independent grounds for arrest.” Id. at 194, 519 S.E.2d at 790.

Appellant argues this case is different from Nelson because intimidation of a witness is not a new and distinct crime but rather depends on the earlier crime of breach of peace. He urges this Court to find that Appellant’s intimidation of a witness charge did not “purge the taint” of the allegedly illegal breach of peace charge, consider it “fruit of the poisonous tree,” and reverse his conviction.

To the extent this Court finds Appellant has sufficiently articulated an argument about whether the intimidation of a witness charge can stand based on his understanding that the breach of peace charge was later dismissed, federal cases provide some guidance in this area. Generally, courts have determined intimidation of a witness to a pending charge is still a crime even if the charge is later dismissed. United States v. White, 256 F. App'x 333 (11th Cir. 2007). “Accepting [the] position [that it is not] would only encourage witness intimidation.” Id. at 340. See also United States v. Griffin, 463 F.2d (10th Cir. 1972) (finding charge involving threats and force to intimidate witnesses applies to *prospective* witnesses, where witness is defined as one who knows, or is supposed to know, material facts and is expected to testify). Thus, even if the breach of peace charge was dismissed two days after this trial, it was an indicted charge at the time of trial and its subsequent dismissal has no impact on the validity of Appellant’s conviction.

IV.

The trial court provided Appellant his right to due process in regard to discovery and enforcing the State's obligation to disclose all material, exculpatory, and impeachment evidence to the defense.

Appellant argues the trial court denied him his right to due process by failing to enforce his subpoenas and discovery requests. Specifically, Appellant argues that in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), he was unconstitutionally deprived of three pieces of evidence that he claimed were in possession of the State: employee personnel records of witnesses and his own personnel record, portions of a security video consisting of two “gaps,” and the supplement to an incident report.

Personnel Files

Pretrial, on February 9, 2015, defense counsel and counsel for UPS met. At that time, they discussed defense counsel's motion to compel and UPS's motion to quash subpoenas defense counsel had served in an attempt to compel UPS to produce personnel records. (R. 11, lines 20–25; R. 12, line 1–R. 13, line 11.) UPS argued the subpoenas were not properly served. (R. 13, line 12–R. 15, line 5; R. 18, lines 5–12; R. 19, line 25–R. 20, line 2.) Appellant argued he needed to see Jones's personnel file to see if she had been passed over or not promoted and that he also needed to see his own file. (R. 16, lines 15–19; R. 17, lines 12–23.) Defense counsel claimed he served the subpoenas through certified mail and had a receipt that was not with him at the hearing but that he would bring to trial. (R. 18, line 18–25.) The trial judge informed both parties they could give him anything they wanted him to review before trial and asked that they get it to him by the following day. (R. 19, lines 1–10; R. 21, lines 8–16.) When the trial started three days later on February 12, 2015, defense counsel did not mention the motion to compel, the subpoenas, or anything concerning UPS personnel records. Thus, the trial

court made no ruling on the materiality of any personnel records and was never asked to make such a ruling by defense counsel.

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